1997

V-1 Oil Company v. Department of Environmental Quality Division of Environmental Response and Remediation, and the State of Utah: Brief of Petitioner

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF APPELLATE JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(1) (1988) and Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(a) (1994).

ISSUES PRESENTED **and** **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The issues presented for consideration by the Court are:

Issue #1: Whether the findings of fact of the hearing panel are supported by substantial record evidence. R. 901, 890, 000024, 000034.¹

Standard of Review for Issue #1: As to issues of fact, the Board's findings must be supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole record before the court. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(g)(1988); *King v. Industrial Commission of Utah*, 850 P.2d 1281, 1285 (Utah App. 1993); *Grace Drilling Co. v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission*, 776 P.2d 63 (Utah App. 1989).

Issue #2: Whether the Board's Order was sufficient on its face under *Adams v. Board of Review of Industrial Commission*, 821 P.2d 1 (Utah App. 1991). R. 901; 000024.

Standard of Review for Issue #2: The findings must be sufficiently detailed to demonstrate that the Board properly arrived at the ultimate factual findings and has properly applied the governing rules of law to those findings. *Adams v. Board of*

¹ All references to the Record will commence with "R." References to Petitioner's Addendum bound separately and submitted herewith, commence with a series of "0's."

Review of Industrial Commission, 821 P.2d 1 (Utah App. 1991); Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(h)(iv).

Issue #3: Whether the Board's findings and ultimate conclusions were arbitrary and capricious. R. 901, 890; 000024, 000034.

Standard of Review for Issue #3: Whether the findings are adequate is a legal determination, reviewed under a correction of error standard, and requires no deference to the Board. *King v. Industrial Commission of Utah*, 850 P.2d 1281, 1285 (Utah App. 1993). The findings must be articulated with sufficient detail, and include enough subsidiary facts to disclose to the reviewing court the steps taken to reach the agency's ultimate conclusion. *Harken Southwest Corp. v. Board of Oil, Gas and Mining*; 920 P.2d 1176 (Utah 1996); *U.S. West Communications, Inc. v. Public Service Commission*, 901 P.2d 270 (Utah 1995). R. 901, 890.

Issue #4: Whether the Utah Underground Storage Tank Act and/or the federal regulations at 40 C.F.R. part 280, affirmatively require an owner/operator of underground storage tanks to abate and take corrective action of off-site impacts prior to a determination of the owner/operators responsibility for the condition? R. 901, 890; 000024, 000034.

Standard of Review for Issue #4: As to issues of general law, the appeals court reviews agency interpretations under a correction of error standard without deference to the agency. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(d)(1988); *Niederhauser Ornamental & Metal Works Co. v. State*, 858 P.2d 1034 (Utah App. 1993); *King v.*

Industrial Commission of Utah, 850 P.2d 1281, 1285 (Utah App. 1993). As to issues of agency-specific law, the appeals court will determine whether the Legislature explicitly granted discretion to the agency to interpret or apply statutory language at issue and if such a grant exists the court will review the decisions based on an abuse of discretion standard. *King v. Industrial Commission of Utah*, 850 P.2d 1281, 1291 (Utah App. 1993); Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(h)(i).

Issue #5: Whether the Board's conclusion that the Notice of Noncompliance was properly issued was consistent with due process requirements. R. 901; 000024.

Standard of Review for Issue #5: Due process considerations are questions of general law reviewed under the correction of error standard without deference to the agency's determination. *Tolman v. Salt Lake County Attorney*, 818 P.2d 23, 28 (Utah App. 1991).

Issue #6: Whether under the residuum rule there was sufficient competent evidence presented at the hearing to support the agency's findings and conclusions of law. R. 901, 890; 000024, 000034.

Standard of Review for Issue #6: Issues regarding the legal sufficiency of evidence is reviewed under a correction of error standard, giving no deference to the agency's decision. *Tolman v. Salt Lake County Attorney*, 818 P.2d 23, 28 (Utah App. 1991).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES

The applicable statutes are contained in:

- (1) Utah Code Ann. § 19-6-401, *et seq.*, Utah Underground Storage Tank Act, attached herewith in Appellant's Addendum at 000013-23.
- (2) Utah Administrative Rule 311-202.
- (3) 40 C.F.R. Part 280, Technical Standards and Corrective Action Requirements for Owners and Operators of Underground Storage Tanks (UST), attached herewith in Appellant's Addendum at 000001-12.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This appeal seeks appellate review of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order issued by the Utah Solid and Hazardous Waste Control Board on April 21, 1997, following a hearing held before the Board on February 13, 1997, wherein the Board determined that V-1 was the source of free petroleum product entering the sewer system on Whitney Avenue at approximately 1400 South and 350 West and upheld the Executive Secretary's Emergency Order and Notice of Non-compliance finding that V-1 was the responsible party and must take abatement, investigative and corrective action to remedy the off-site contamination as identified on hearing exhibits 15 and 18.

B. Course of Proceedings Below and Disposition at the Agency.

On January 19, 1996, the Kent P. Gray, Executive Secretary (UST) issued an *Emergency Order to Abate and Order to Investigate and Perform Corrective Action In re: V-1 Oil Company Free Product in the Sewer, Facility No. 4001217, Release Site EFTX, pursuant to the Utah Underground Storage Tank Act, Title 19, Chapter 6, Part 4* (Emergency Order). R.007; 000115-119.

Six days later, on January 25, 1996, the Executive Secretary issued a Notice of Noncompliance with the Emergency Order and Notice of Intent to Take the Lead and Use Public Money ("Notice of Noncompliance"). R.010; 000120-122.

On February 1, 1996, V-1 Oil Company submitted its Request for Agency Action pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-3(1)(b). R.014. More than a year later, on

February 13, 1997, the Board heard oral arguments at a scheduled hearing into the matter and rendered its decision, more than two months later, on April 21, 1997. R.567-901; 0000034-112. The Order upholds the issuance of the Emergency Order and the Notice of Noncompliance, orders V-1 to allow DERR representatives to implement all procedures necessary to inspect and sample V-1's facility and the monitoring wells located on-site and off-site, and orders V-1 to take any additional abatement, investigative and corrective action that is necessary and appropriate with regard to the contamination identified in the State's Exhibits 15 and 18. R.890; 0000024-34.

On May 20, 1997, Respondent timely filed its Petition for Review of the proceedings and the Board's Order in the matter of *In re: Emergency Order to abate and Order to Investigate and Perform Corrective Action In re: V-1 Oil Company Free Product in Sewer*; Facility No. 4001217, Release Site EFTX and Notice of Noncompliance pursuant to § 63-46b-16. On August 25, 1997, the Utah Solid and Hazardous Waste Control Board issued its Order denying V-1's Motion to Stay pending judicial review of the Board's April 21, 1997 Order. R.1094.

On October 21, 1997, the Court of Appeals denied V-1's Motion to Stay enforcement of the Board's Order pending judicial review of that Order.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. V-1 owns and operates a service station located at 1478 South 300 West ("the station") which is an area within Salt Lake City which is primarily commercial/industrial. R.555.

2. There are currently two (2) coated steel underground storage tanks on the premises and operated by V-1. A 10,000 gallon tank is used to store unleaded gasoline, and a 6,000 gallon tank for super unleaded gasoline. R.555.

3. The Utah Underground Storage Tank Act, Utah Code Ann. § 19-6-412 requires that "[e]ffective July 1, 1991, each owner or operator of a petroleum storage tank shall have a certificate of compliance for the facility. The Executive Secretary shall issue a certificate of compliance if:

- (a) the owner or operator has a certificate of registration;
- (b) the petroleum storage tank fee has been paid;
- (c) all state and federal statutes, rules, and regulations have been substantially complied with; and
- (d) all tank test requirements of section 19-6-413 have been met.

000018. At all times relevant hereto the V-1 tanks were covered by a Certificate of Compliance issued by the Executive Secretary (UST) pursuant to the requirements of the Utah Underground Storage Tank Act. R.680, 319, 225; 000087.

4. On December 5, 1995, two (2) additional underground storage tanks were removed from the V-1 station site. R.897; 000083. Neither tank had been piped or otherwise connected to any product dispensers at the V-1 station. R.280. The excavation of the tanks was attended by representatives of the DERR. R.279-80. No free phase product was discovered during the tank excavation. R.266-280, 384.

5. Pursuant to the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 280.43 [adopted and incorporated by reference in the Utah Administrative Code R311-101-1(1992)], the V-1 300 West station uses the "Inventory control" method of release detection . R.553, 530.

6. Since implementing the EPA inventory control method for release detection in approximately 1990, V-1 has not had a reportable loss, that is, one which exceeded 1 percent of its throughput plus 130 gallons for more than two consecutive months, until October 1995. R.716; 000078.

7. In October, November and December 1995, V-1's inventory control records indicated a inventory loss of unleaded gasoline. On November 30, 1995, the unleaded gasoline dispensers were taken out of service. Pursuant to federal and state regulations, on December 4, 1995, V-1 reported a "suspected" leak to Jim Thiros of DERR and was instructed to confirm the incident following excavation and inspection of the system. R.687-685; 000085-86.

8. On December 5, 1995, the area around the unleaded gasoline dispensers was excavated and inspected. R.685; 000086. The excavation was observed by DERR representatives. R.685, R.280. No free phase petroleum product was observed. A second excavation occurred on December 26, 1995 and a delivery system line was replaced with a stainless steel line and the tank was placed back in service. R.680-81; 000087.

9. Inventory records for October, November and December 1995 showed an inventory loss of between 649 and 2200 gallons.² There was no free product observed during the excavations of the delivery system in December 1995. R.680-685; 000085-87.

10. On January 19, 1996, the Executive Secretary (UST) issued an *Emergency Order to Abate and Order to Investigate and Perform Corrective Action In re: V-1 Oil Company Free Product in Sewer, Facility No. 4001217, Release Site EFTX, pursuant to the Utah Underground Storage Tank Act, Title 19, Chapter 6, Part 4* ("Emergency Order"). R.007-9. The Emergency Order provides that "[a] recent and/or ongoing petroleum release from V-1 is the source of the free product infiltrating the sewing line;" and ordered V-1 to "investigate ... remove and abate free product threatening to impact or impacting the sewer" and to implement a corrective action plan. R.009; 000113.

11. On January 19, 1996, immediately following receipt of the Emergency Order, V-1 retained TriTechnics Corporation, a state certified environmental consultant to investigate and determine if the free product entering the sewer line on Whitney Avenue originated from the V-1 property. R.716; 000078. V-1 also entered into negotiations with Southern Pacific Lines to negotiate a right of entry for access to the property adjoining and between V-1 for the purpose of investigating the off-site impact alleged to be the result of V-1's recent product loss which occurred between October and December, 1995. R.708-710; 000079-80.

² The volume of inventory lost was an issue before the Board but is not raised on appeal.

12. TriTechnics, V-1's environmental consultant did not find that V-1 was responsible for the free product in the sewer on Whitney Avenue. R.655, 644; 000093-96.

13. However, six days later, on January 25, 1996, the Executive Secretary (UST) issued a Notice of Noncompliance with the Emergency Order to Abate and Order to Investigate and Perform Corrective Action ("Notice") for V-1's failure to immediately undertake removal and abatement of the free product impacting the sewer line. The Notice further stated that the Executive Secretary would use public monies to take abatement, investigative and corrective action, which costs may be recovered from V-1. R.010-13.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

On January 19, 1996, the Executive Secretary (UST) issued an Emergency Order finding that the V-1 Oil Company station located at 1478 South 300 West was responsible for free phase petroleum product entering the sewer system on Whitney Avenue. R.007. It is undisputed that V-1 immediately contacted an environmental consultant to investigate whether V-1 was responsible for the free product in the sewer and to prepare the initial site reports in a timely fashion. R.897. However, six days following the issuance of the Emergency Order, on January 25, 1996, the Executive Secretary (UST) determined that V-1 "failed to demonstrate that V-1 has performed initial abatement required" by the Emergency Order which directed V-1 to abate the release pursuant to Utah Admin. Code (incorporating by reference 40 C.F.R. Part 280 [Notice of Non-Compliance]. 010.

The Code of Federal Regulations, 40 C.F.R. Part 280 provides in pertinent part:

When required by the implementing agency, owners and operators of UST [underground storage tank] systems must follow the procedures in § 280.52 to determine *if* the UST system is the source of off-site impacts.

40 C.F.R. §51; 000010. The Emergency Order issued by the Executive Secretary on January 19, 1996 was very specific as to the "off-site impact" involved. R.007 The Executive Secretary stated, "[a] recent and/or ongoing petroleum release from V-1 is the source of the free product infiltrating the sewer line [on Whitney Avenue]. Where an off-site impact is the basis for suspecting a specific owner/operator of responsibility, the regulations require that the owner/operator perform a "site-check." 40 C.F.R. § 280.52(3); 000010.

(b) *Site check.* Owners and operators must measure for the presence of a release where contamination is most likely to be present at the UST site. In selecting sample types, sample locations, and measurement methods, owner and operators must consider the nature of the stored substance, the type of initial alarm or cause for suspicion, the type of backfill, the depth of ground water, and other factors appropriate for identifying the presence and source of the release.

40 C.F.R. § 280.52(b); 000010. The Code of Federal Regulations does not affirmatively require an owner/operator of underground storage tanks to abate and take corrective action of off-site impacts prior to a determination of the owner/operators responsibility for the condition.³

³ Where the reviewing court can derive the legislative intent in the statute from "traditional methods of statutory construction, the agency's interpretation will be granted

V-1 Oil Company and the sewer line impacted by the free product is separated by 200 feet of soil and property. R.483. A large portion of that property belongs to Southern Pacific Lines.⁴ R.708-710; 000079. The entire area is primarily commercial/industrial. R.555. On January 12, 1996, A & A Contractors, located on Whitney Avenue, complaint of smelling "thinner" in a floor drain. R.262; 000203. The basis of this suspicion was the fact that there were paint shops located nearby. R.256; 000207.

Rick Bright, of the Salt Lake Division of Public Utilities, examined the sewer along Whitney Avenue and discovered a "gasoline or oil substance" on the water. R.871; 000039. No tests were performed to verify the identity of the substance. R.871, 857; 000039, 43. Moreover, LEL [lower explosive level] testing revealed no explosive hazard in the sewer. R.857, 000043. However, it was determined by the DERR that the product in the sewer must have come from V-1 Oil, because the sewer was "down gradient," according to a regional ground flow map and because it was a known source of contamination. R.843, 804. Mr. Hanson testified, "it was pretty obvious to us [who the source of the contamination was]."

no deference and the statute will be interpreted in accord with its legislative intent." *King v. Industrial Commission of Utah*, 850 P.2d 1281, 1287 (Utah App. 1993).

⁴ The Southern Pacific property has since been acquired by Union Pacific Railroad. R.307.

V-1 consultants, TriTechnics Corporation, discovered, however, that it was not quite so obvious. TriTechnics placed 8 monitoring wells on the V-1 property and intended to place several additional monitoring wells on the Southern Pacific property. R.708-10; 000078-80. V-1 entered into negotiations with Southern Pacific to negotiate a right of entry for access to the adjoining property for the purpose of determining whether V-1 was responsible for the sewer contamination. R.708-710; 000079-80. On January 30, 1996, V-1 was informed by Southern Pacific that the Utah DERR had informed them that V-1's work plan would not be approved. R.492, 496. Since an approved work plan was necessary to obtain a right of entry, V-1 was denied access to investigate. R.492.

The investigation conducted on V-1 property, however, did not confirm that V-1 was the source of any free product in the sewer on Whitney Avenue. R.644; 000096. TriTechnics performed direct groundwater measurements and discovered that the groundwater flow was clearly to the northeast. R.650, 465; 000094, 000170. In fact, the gradient was significant. R.616; 000103. In addition, there were no conduits to carry petroleum from V-1 to Whitney Avenue. R.804; 000056. Without such conduits, even *assuming* for purposes of this argument that the groundwater were to the northwest, it would take more than two years for the petroleum to migrate through the soils, across the Southern Pacific property and into the sewer. R.895; 000029. The DERR argued that the contamination was the result of a "series" of releases at the V-1 station. R.895. However, there was no legally competent or credible evidence presented to support such

a theory and, again, it would necessarily require that the groundwater flow be to the northwest. Finally, the DERR argued that no other property in the area could be the source, citing that only V-1 was clearly up-gradient from the sewer.

On February 13, 1997, V-1 and the DERR presented the evidence gathered from the investigations to the Utah Solid and Hazardous Waste Control Board. On April 17, 1997, the Board upheld the Emergency Order and the Notice of Non-compliance. However, the Board's decision is clearly contrary to the substantial weight of evidence presented when viewed in light of the whole record before the Court. *King v. Industrial Commission of Utah*, 850 P.2d 1281, 1285 (Utah App. 1993), Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(g)(1989)). In addition, the Board's refusal to acknowledge the uncontradicted testimony regarding the groundwater gradient is arbitrary and capricious. *U.S. West Communications v. Public Service Commission of Utah*, 901 P.2d 270, 275 (Utah 1995). Further, the findings of fact are merely a recitation of contradictory evidence and the conclusions of law are so inadequately detailed that it prevents meaningful appellate review. Many of the factual findings are based on testimony that has been mischaracterized or not supportable by legally competent evidence and are, therefore, arbitrary and capricious. Therefore, the Board's Order should be reversed and an Ordered entered finding that the Board's factual findings are not supported by substantial evidence, are arbitrary and capricious and are insufficient as a matter of law and should be reversed. The Board has erroneously interpreted or applied the requirements of 40 C.F.R. part 280 and V-1 has been substantially prejudiced by entry of the Board's Order.

ARGUMENT

I. THE BOARD ERRED IN ITS DETERMINATION THAT V-1 WAS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE FREE PRODUCT IN THE SEWER AND THAT THE EMERGENCY ORDER AND NOTICE OF NON-COMPLIANCE WERE PROPERLY ISSUED.

A. The Board Erred In Its Determination That V-1 Failed To Properly Respond To The Off-Site Impact As Mandated By 40 C.F.R. PART 280.

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