1997

V-1 Oil Company v. Department of Environmental Quality and the State of Utah : Brief of Respondents

Utah Court of Appeals

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

V-1 also does not dispute that on December 11, 1995 (a month before the sewer release) two abandoned USTs were removed from the V-1 property. Brief of Petitioner at 7. These tanks had been installed in the 1970's. The area around the

tanks was found to be heavily contaminated with petroleum and both tanks were thin-walled. R. 280. One of the tanks was found to contain approximately 50 gallons of liquid contaminated by petroleum. R. 267-69, 279. The other tank was found to contain approximately 500 gallons of liquid contaminated by petroleum. Id. The tank containing 50-75 gallons of petroleum/water had several holes in the underside. R. 279. Finally, V-1 has not disputed the fact that a V-1 representative confirmed a release at the facility on December 26, 1995. These reports and the data collected by the two environmental consultants, Delta and TriTechnics, confirm that there have been several releases on the V-1 property that could have migrated to the site of the sewer release. R. 246-49 (attachment 1), 790-91.

The testimonies of Gary Huskinson and Hal Wadson actually make it quite likely that there have been even more releases on the V-1 site that have not been reported to DERR. They both displayed a great deal of ignorance or misinterpretation of the reporting requirements. Mr. Huskinson testified that they believed they did not have to make a report unless there was a release of over 25 gallons. R. 720. This makes it possible or even likely that releases were not reported if they did not meet V-1's incorrect definition of a release.

Further, Mr. Moore testified that there were major problems with V-1's methods of inventory control. R. 608. He stated that V-1 was not performing accurate measurements on its inventory control charts and that V-1's methods used in calculating what V-1 considers an "allowable leak rate" is the reporting quantity and not an allowable leak rate. R. 607. Thus anything under that amount would not have been

reported. He also testified that Huskinson and Wadson's understanding of matters such as filling and not filling of pipes leading to an UST and the effect of this on inventory reports was incorrect. R. 605-606. There could have been numerous incidents of releases over the years that went unreported. However, all releases, reported or unreported, still contaminate and impact the soil and groundwater and could have contributed to the sewer release.

C. V-1's claim that it is down-gradient from the site of the release into the sewer is not supported by the evidence but is based upon an unreliable one-time sampling which was limited to V-1's property.

Another factor DERR looked at to determine the source of the sewer release, was the direction of groundwater flow. DERR checked groundwater flow charts which showed that in the area around the sewer release, "the direction of the flow is likely west to slightly northwest in the direction of the Jordan River." R. 216.

At the hearing, evidence concerning the direction of groundwater flow was disputed. V-1 relied upon samples taken from groundwater monitoring wells located on the V-1 property. However, the samples were only taken from eight wells and only on one occasion. R.620. Five of the wells are located on V-1 property and the other three are immediately adjacent. R. 246-49 (attachment 1). This limited sampling does not prove the direction of groundwater flow in the whole area of the plume or outside of V-1's property because it is limited to a very small area, about a quarter of the size of the entire plume caused by the release. Id. V-1's witness, Mr. Condrat of TriTechnics, admitted that he did not know what the gradient is anywhere except on the V-1 property. R. 616. Mr. Condrat further admitted that only "one sampling event, one water

level measurement" would not show the manner in which the groundwater flow could vary and fluctuate. R. 620.

Mr. Condrat did not have a complete knowledge of the site and the release. He was not the person who performed the testing on the V-1 site, but rather is the office manager for TriTechnics. R. 635, 657. Mr. Condrat's lack of actual knowledge of the site made his testimony and conclusions about the site questionable. He testified that he did not know where the plume of contamination flowing from V-1 to the sewer release originated. R. 628. He believed that there were only two geo-probe testing points in the plume, disregarding the fact that there were 17 geo-probe testing points in the plume. R. 249 (attachment 1), 628. He seemed to be unaware of the incidents of prior contamination of the V-1 property other than the release reported in December, 1995. R. 619, 616, 626-7.

As to the testimony which Mr. Condrat did offer concerning groundwater flow, his conclusions were nebulous. He admitted that outside of the V-1 site the groundwater could be flowing to the northwest as regional groundwater flow maps indicate and DERR believes. R. 640. He testified that a large release may move up-gradient and that dispersion can cause a release to move in a direction other than that in which the groundwater flows. R. 618-20. He was only able to testify to the flow of groundwater on the limited area of V-1's property on the one day that the testing was performed. Id. V-1 attacks the evidence concerning the direction of groundwater flow while omitting critical and relevant evidence. Brief of Petitioner at 21-22. "In applying the substantial evidence test, we review the whole record before the Court . . ." Grace Drilling v. Board

of Review, 776 P.2d 63, 68 (Utah App. 1989).

V-1 disregards the limited scope of V-1's testing in claiming that the "Board completely ignored uncontradicted, competent and credible evidence to the contrary," and that "the Board's refusal to acknowledge the uncontradicted testimony regarding the groundwater gradient is arbitrary and capricious." Brief of Petitioner at 20, 22. As stated above, V-1's witness did not offer "uncontradicted, competent and credible evidence." Further, his testimony was contradicted by the testimony of DERR witnesses, the regional groundwater flow maps, and the charts mapping the contamination spreading from the V-1 facility to the site of the release. R. 215-16, 246-249 (attachment 1).

The most powerful evidence concerning the direction of the groundwater flow is the maps produced by Delta combining the results of the geo-probe boring Delta performed and the results of the monitoring wells installed by TriTechnics. R. 246-49 (attachment 1). These charts clearly show the contamination spreading from the V-1 station to the northwest with a certain amount of contamination spreading to the northeast. Id. There is an area of very high contamination in the spreading to the northeast of V-1. Id. This spreading and the location of the high contamination confirms that while the groundwater may flow somewhat to the northeast on the V-1 property, outside the V-1 property groundwater flows to the northwest. Testimony from both DERR's and V-1's witnesses confirmed that a variance in directional flow is not unusual. R. 620, 725, 803.

D. Since V-1 has a history of contamination and releases at the V-1 facility, the contamination released into the sewer could be two or more years old and still originate from the V-1 facility.

As demonstrated above, DERR records show that there have been several incidents of contamination on the V-1 property. The documentation of a consultant hired by V-1 to look at the 1991 release shows that the 1991 release was not remediated as V-1 claims. R. 293. Testimony and laboratory analysis show that in December 1992 and in January 1995, the site was found to be heavily contaminated with petroleum products. R. 286-88. None of the releases have ever been remediated. R.284. Since V-1 representatives are under the mistaken belief that they do not have to report any "release" that is under 25 gallons, there may have been many losses over the years of amounts under 25 gallons which have not been reported to DERR. R. 702.

DERR has not claimed that the loss of almost 2,300 gallons of petroleum from the V-1 USTs in October, November and December 1995 is the direct source of the release into the sewer. Without citing to the record, V-1 asserts that both environmental consultants concluded that there had to be a conduit to the sewer upon which the petroleum flowed. Brief of Petitioner at 27. This is not true. Testimony shows that DERR looked at and then dismissed the possibility that the sewer spill was fresh contamination migrating along a defined pathway. R. 804. In fact, DERR witnesses testified that the product flowing into the sewer is most likely from one or more earlier releases.

Q. You think this may have built up for a while?

A. Yes

Well, contamination will migrate with the water itself, and a couple of things can happen. If you have a single spill incident, that petroleum can actually migrate sort of as a mass all on its own and go between different phases . . . it can go into the water, it can go into the soil surface, it can collect on top of the water as what we call free phase. And depending on the amount of contamination that's there, it can exist in any of those various phases.

And as petroleum contamination would build up, it would move between those phases until -- if you got a high enough concentration it would come out of the dissolved phase, out of the absorbed phase, and into what we call a fresh product phase, and would collect where it had an opportunity to. In this case, on the water in the sewer.

R. 804.

Mr. Condrat testified that it is possible the release into the sewer could be the result of past contamination migrating and then being released into the sewer. R. 615.

He further testified that heavy contamination could become bound up in the soil and then, as the groundwater rose, start flowing again as free product. R. 611-12. DERR witnesses also testified that the release into the sewer could be the result of several releases. R. 791. Paul Zahn noted that the different levels of contamination in different parts of the plume suggest that there has been more than one release with V-1 as the source of the releases. R. 725

The almost 2,300 gallon release and the recent removal of the two abandoned tanks does not have to be the direct source of the sewer release to have contributed to or even instigated the sewer release. V-1's expert admitted that they had looked at the holes in one of the abandoned tanks as a possible source of the release. R. 637. Both tanks had been installed in the 1970's. At the time they were removed one of them, the

one with holes in it, contained a tenth of what the other held. It is distinctly possible that the tank with the holes in it had once contained as much as the other tank and that the holes in the tank have been releasing petroleum for years. If areas of contamination from prior releases were bound up in the soil the additional pressure of a further release and the disturbance caused by the removal of two tanks could have been the final element necessary to push the past releases to the sewer.

E. Evidence was sufficient to show that the material being released onto property adjacent to V-1 and into the sewer was petroleum.

There was sufficient evidence that the contamination in the sewer was in fact petroleum. A phone-in report from A & A states that A & A initially thought the odor was thinner, but the report goes on to state that when the smell was investigated by Rick Bright of the City it was found to be gasoline. R. 262. Mr. Bright testified that he knew it was gasoline because:

I've seen petroleum in a sewer system before and it looked like gasoline or oil substance in there. At that time when I took the sample the Hazmat team, hazardous materials team and County Health Department, they all basically observed the same thing when they were there.

R.871.

Doug Hansen, who responded to the report from the City of gasoline in the sewer testified that he knows the substance in the sewer was gasoline because:

- A. Well, there was obviously a petroleum smell as we got on the site, it wasn't just contained to the sewers and the manhole. The smell was like gasoline . . . the sewer obviously had . . . a layer of petroleum product on the surface.
- Q. How did you know it was petroleum?
- A. The smell, coloration, it's obvious.

R. 849.

Mr. Hansen also testified that when air samples were taken in the A & A building they showed that "[t]here were levels of petroleum contamination in the building vapors" and that after the soil and groundwater samples were taken and analyzed they showed that the flow of contamination spreading from the V-1 station to the release into the sewer line was gasoline and not another similar substance. R. 782, 779. According to Mr. Hansen it was very evident that the contamination had been identified as gasoline. Id. Paul Zahn agreed that the contamination was gasoline and not diesel fuel or motor oil or train oil based on the chromatography tests. R. 722-23.

All of the evidence presented to the Board concerning what DERR records and inquiries revealed about V-1's history, groundwater flow, other possible sources, and soil geology was sufficient and competent. It was a credible basis for the Board to find that there was sufficient evidence upon which the executive secretary relied in issuing the Emergency Order and the Notice of Noncompliance. "When an agency had discretion to apply its factual findings to the law, we will not disturb the agency's application unless its determination exceeds the bounds of reasonableness and rationality." Smith v. Mity Lite, 939 P.2d 684, 686 (Utah App. 1997), citing VanLeeuwen v. Industrial Comm'n, 901 P.2d 281, 283 (Utah, App.1995).

IV. ALL ARGUMENTS CONCERNING DUE PROCESS IN THE ISSUANCE OF THE NOTICE OF NONCOMPLIANCE HAVE BEEN WAIVED BECAUSE THEY WERE NOT RAISED AT THE HEARING AND THEY HAVE NOT BEEN PRESENTED OR ARGUED IN V-1'S BRIEF.

V-1's issue number 5 presented to this Court is "[w]hether the Board's conclusion

that the Notice of Noncompliance was properly issued was consistent with due process requirements." Brief of Petitioner at 3. The Board's conclusion with regard to the Notice of Noncompliance was that "issuance of the Notice of Noncompliance . . . was authorized by Utah Code Ann. § 19-6-420 (2)(b), and was properly issued." R. 892-93. Due process is not an issue that should be addressed by this Court because it was not presented to the Board nor ruled on by the Board. This Court should not consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal. "The trial court is considered 'the proper forum in which to commence thoughtful and probing analysis' of issues," State v. Brown, 856 P.2d 358, 360 (Utah App. 1993), citing State v. Bobo, 803 P.2d 1268, 1273 (Utah App. 1990).

This issue could only be preserved for appeal if it had been properly raised and argued before the Board. V-1 has waived consideration of these arguments here because a due process violation in issuance of the Notice of Noncompliance was not raised during the hearing. V-1 mentioned due process four times at the hearing and these mentions were not sufficient to allow the Board to make a decision as to due process or to even be considered as having raised the issue.¹⁰ In a Court of Appeals case, the court refused to address an issue to which only passing reference was made; "Because defendant has not developed any argument...we do not address that question on appeal." State v. Saunders, 893 P.2d 584, 590 *n. 5 (Utah App. 1995) cert.

¹⁰ One mention occurred when V-1 requested permission to voir dire the Board to insure a fair tribunal. R.877. And three other times passing references to due process were made in relationship to the issuance of the Emergency Order. R. 595, 597, 717.

granted 910 P.2d 425 (Utah 1995); see also State v. Mirquet 844 P.2d 995, 1001 (Utah App. 1992) (a mere mention or passing reference to an issue before the Board is not sufficient to preserve it for the court of appeals); and State v. Quintana, 826 P.2d 1068, 1069 (Utah App.1991).

As well as having only made passing reference to due process in the issuance of the Notice of Noncompliance at the hearing before the Board, V-1 does not address the issue in its appellate brief. "Generally, where an appellant fails to brief an issue on appeal, the point is waived." Pixton v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins., 809 P.2d 746, 751 (Utah App.1991). The only reference to due process in V-1 appellate brief is issue number five which is not argued. Raising an issue without presenting arguments is insufficient. "This Court will not engage in constructing arguments out of whole cloth." State v. Mace, 921 P.2d 1372, 1376 (Utah 1996), citing State v. Lafferty, 749 P.2d 1239, 1247 *n.5 (Utah 1988). As in the case at hand, in Parsons v. Barnes, 871 P.2d 516 (Utah 1994), the court refused to address a due process claim because Parsons had failed to brief the claims and the court would not "engage in constructing arguments out of whole cloth." Parsons at 519 *n.2. See also State v. Webb, 790 P.2d 65 (Utah App.1990).

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